The Ottoman traveler Evliya Celebi, the author of
the book “Seyahdtname” visited the town of Toli
Manastir in 1661. His description is one of the most
valuable documents concerning the Ottoman charac-
ter and profile of Seher Manastir:'

.1t is a part of the Province of Rumelia or Roman land
(Rumeli Eyalet) and it constituted a Royal property
(Hassa) belonging to The Bright Star Fatima, a daugh-
ter of Sultan Ahmed IlI, and was administered by the
Governor (Voyvoda) for 20 bags of akges. It has a Reli-
gious Jurisconsultant (Mufti, Seyh-iil Islam), and a re-
gional Representative of the Prophet (Nakib-iil Esraf).
The town has a Chief Judicial Representative (Kadl)
with 300 akges salary. From the 360 villages the kadl
obtains an annual income of fifieen bags of akges.” The
Government officials include a Sipahi Cavalry Steward
(Sipah kethuda yeri), a Senior officer of Jannisaries
(Yenigeri Serdar), the Prefect of the city (Seher voyvo-
da), the Tax Collector (Ser harag emini), a City Repre-
sentative (Seher kethuda), the Market Supervisor (Muh-
tesib aga), and the Chief Architect (Mimar bast). There
was not a Garrison Commander (Dizdar), since the for-
tress has been pulled down upon its capture by the order
of Sultan Murad 1 Hiidavendigar (1362-1389).

! Evlija Celebija, Putopis II, Svijetlost, Sarajevo, 1957, 57-
59. Toli Manastir had the status of Seher, which was equal
to a large town or a city. The name of Toli Manastir was an
amalgamation of the names of Bitola and Manastir. M. Urs-
inus, ‘Manastir’, Encyclopaedia of Islam, vol. VI, Leiden
1995, 371-372; C. Mostras, Dictionnaire geographique de
["empire Ottoman, St. Petersbourg 1873, 170; S. Roman-
ski, ‘Imenata na niakoi makedonski gradove’, Makedon-
ski pregled, vol.4, Sofia 1929, 63-70; T. Tomoski, ‘Kako
toponimot Manastir se nalozil za vtor naziv na gradot Bi-
tola’, Makedonija niz vekovite, Skopje 1999, 462-473.

2 Actually the real number of villages was around 160 and
they were officially listed in the district in the year 1641, Tur-
ski dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod, ser. I/111
(1636-1639) Skopje 1969, 204-208, 281 sicil 6, p.72b-73b.
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The town of Manastir is a large city situated on the
lower slopes of a mountain, on the left and on the
right sides of the river, which are connected by ten
wooden or stone bridges.> The town is full of greenery,
adorned with a thousand huge trees from which it is
hard to see it, until you reach it. The town is divided
into twenty-one districts (mahalle) and its houses are
built out of solid material and covered by tiles.*

The mosques. There were 70 Muslim places of wor-
ship (Mihrab). The most remarkable is the mosque of
Ishak Celebi near the Big Bridge... There is another
mosque of Mahmud efendi with an inscription...

The Gazi Haydar mosque is an artistically splendid
built place for worship. The mosque of Hact Bey is
located on the Turners (Cekrek¢i) market. The Cavug
mosque that is close to the Bedesten has plenty of
worshippers.> The town has nine religious colleges
(Medrese). The most impressive is the Dulbend Kadi
medrese.’

3 Some names of the bridges are known: The Big Bridge,
the Sungur Cavus Bey Bridge, the Kara Kopri, the Flax
Bridge and so on. M. Tevfik, Kratka istorija bitoljskog vi-
lajeta’, Brastvo, vol. XXVII, (transl. G. Elezovi¢) Beograd
1933, 204; J. Hadzi Vasiljevi¢, ‘Grad Bitolj’, iz dela Kroz
staru Srbiju i Makedoniju 1897 godine, Brastvo, vol. X1V,
Beograd 1911, 41.

“In 1661 the main Muslim quarters were as follows: Emir
Bey or Ishak Celebi, Softa Hoca, Yakub Bey, Sinan Bey,
Karaca Bey, Azob Bey, Kara Oglan, Kara Tabak, Bostan-
ci, Ogul Pasa, Cavus Ali, Hiiseyn Subasi, Bali Voyvoda,
Dimigki Bey, Firuz Bey, Ine Bey, Kasim Celebi, Tiirbe, Yeni
mabhalle, Hamza Bey, Kurd Cavus, and Skenderbey. Turski
dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod, ser. VIl
(1636-1639) Skopje 1969, 204-205, 281 Sicil 6p. 72b-73b.
5 See: R. Mihajlovski, ‘The Sixteenth century mosques in
Bitola/Toli Manastir’, Patrimonium.MK, vol. 7-8 (2010)
351-366; N. Cayirli, ‘Osmanli idaresinde Manastir (Bi-
tola),” Tiirk Kiiltiirii, No, 458 (2001) 371-6.

¢ Tevfik, op. cit., 214-215; E.H. Ayverdi, Asimpada Os-
manli mimari eserleri Yugoslaviya, vol. 111, Istanbul 1981,
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Fig. 1. A photo of Bitola/

From the nine hundred business establishments in
the city those of turners and tailors were particularly
outstanding. There are forty coffee shops. The most
impressive building is the Covered market (Bedesten)
with domes and iron gates — in fact it looked much
like a fortress. The merchants in the Bedesten were
rich. Manastir was a famous place for production of
flax, which was finer than that of Egypt.”

Evliya Celebi describes the outskirts of the town as
abundant with greenery and water, picnic places, de-
liciously grilled lambs and kebabs, music from dif-
ferent instruments and birds, some couples in love,
who enjoyed the beauties of the landscape and the
environment. The town itself was well known for its
numerous and excellent rhetoricians and orators. The
local religious students (Softa) with their disheveled
turbans, like birds’ nests, lived as outlaws (Eskiya).
The city had many wealthy merchants and pilgrims,
who were inclined towards erecting charitable foun-
dations as memorials. The town possessed forty-sev-
en buildings covered by blue lead and a stoutly built
covered market. (Fig. 1, A photo of Bitola/ Manastir,
early twentieth century)

The seventeen-century urban structure and organi-
zation of the town Toli-Manastir followed the pat-

96-97, 107. The names of the nine religious colleges (me-
drese) in Manastir were as follows: Dulbend Kadi me-
drese, Sungur Cavus Bey medrese, Isa Fakih medrese,
Ishak Celebi medrese, Koca Kadi medrese, Tiirkler (Haci
Bey) medrese, Yeni mosque medrese, Haydar Kadi me-
drese, and Tevfikiye or U¢ Seyhler medrese.

7 Celebija, op. cit., 59; A. Vacalopoulos, History of Mac-
edonia 1354-1833, Thessaloniki 1972, 264.
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terns of developed Ottoman cities. Certain parts or
districts, mainly in the center where business quar-
ters were located, had secular markets and public
buildings around the places of worship. Among the
popular and important features in everyday life were
the public hamams. All of them were Vakif endow-
ments and consisted of twin baths for men and wom-
en. The better-known baths were close to the main
mosques, as they were in Bitola, for example the Eski
Cifte hamam of the fifteenth century, and the ‘De-
boy’ hamam and the Yeni hamam, which were six-
teen-seventeen century buildings.® There were three
kinds of markets: the Covered market-Bedesten and
the open market-Bazaar Cars1 dealing with food and
everyday necessities. The town area was composed
of many different markets, such as the Horse mar-
ket, the Sheep market, the Wheat market, the Wood
market, the Flea market, the Butter market. The Ar-
asta or covered streets contained different markets
for spices, wine, flax, candles, jam, and craftsmen.’
The different types of khans and caravansaries that
served as hotels and wholesales offices were close to
the markets.

In the first half of the seventeen-century, the Mufti of
Manastir was Hact Mahmud Efendi. Known as Kule-

8 K. Tomovski,” Amamot Deboj vo Bitola’, Zbornik na
Arheoloskiot muzej, vol. VI-VII, Skopje 1975, 263-370;

® See: HadZi Vasiljevi¢, op. cit., 24-30; R. Momidi¢-
Petkova, ‘Razvitok na bitolskata carSija (do II svetska
vojna)’, Zbornik na trudovi, vol. 4-5, Zavod za zastita na
spomenicite na kulturata, muzej i galerija, Bitola 1983/84,
127-147.
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Fig. 2. Hasan Baba mosque

li Miifti Seyk, (Hirka Baba) he was a spiritual leader
of the branch of Naksbendi order. At the outskirts
of the town he built a stone tower ‘Zandan Kules1’,
which was 6.30 by 5.35 m. at the base and 10.95 m.
in high. There he had a large collection of religious
books and manuscripts. After his death in 1628 the
tower became a place of pilgrimage and the water
in which his mantle (Hirka) was dipped had healing
powers.'? Another local mystic and martyr was Hasan
Baba Kesfi Efendi, a Naksbendi dervis. He suffered a
violent death and the place where he was buried be-
came a place of pilgrimage. Between 1628 and 1640
a small mosque, a tekke, and a mausoleum known
as Hasan Baba—Bas1 kesik tekye cami were erected.
During the nineteenth century the whole complex be-
came a Naksbendi place of devotion.!! On the south-
west outskirts of the town was the center of the Hal-
veti Hayat1 dervishes consisting of tekke, medrese,
mausoleum and the mosque of the Three Sheiks (Ug

10 Tevfik, op. cit., 223; F. W., Hasluck, Christianity and
Islam under the Sultans, 2 vols, Oxford 1929, 358-359;
Ayverdi, op. cit., 109; R. Mihajlovski, ‘Several Ottoman
monuments from Bitola (Manastir)’, Cultural Heritage,
vol. 26-27/2000-2001 (2001) 70-72.

" Tomovski, op. cit., 58; Ayverdi, op. cit., 98; Tevfik, op.
cit., 219-220.
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Seyhler). The mosque has a protruded apse where the
mihrab was placed, which was an exceptional archi-
tectural design among Bitola’s mosques.!?

The seventeen-century religious buildings were
evenly spread on the right side of the Dragor rivulet
and on the left upper sides of the city. It will follow
a more detailed description and analysis of each of
them in a form of comprehensive catalogue of Otto-
man monumental religious architecture heritage.
The Hasan Baba Cami or Hasan Baba-Basi kesik
tekiye cami. The Hasan Baba mosque is located in
the Upper western outskirts of the town, on the right
side of the river Dragor. (Fig. 2, Hasan Baba mosque)
During the nineteen-century Muslim refugees were
settled in this area and it was known as the Muhacir
mahallesi (Madzar maale).

The mosque was erected in 1037-1049 AH/ 1628-
1640, in the times of Sultan Murad IV (1623-1640).
Fazli Pasa, a commander of the Third Army in
Manastir, renovated it in 1883.13

The history of the mosque is based on the local
legend of Hasan Baba Kesfi Efendi or Hasan Baba
Decapitated (Hasan Baba-Basi kesik).'* According
to this legend, Hasan Baba was a pupil of the local
dervish named Ciger Baba, and he was beheaded as
a martyr, instead of his master. Carrying his head he
arrived at the spot where much later were built his
mausoleum with a cenotaph, and a mosque with a
Naksbendi tekke.'> A similar popular legend was at-
tached popular to the Christian St John Vladimir in
Elbasan from the eleventh century.!®

Between the years 1623 and 1640, by the order of
Sultan Murad IV on the place where once stood a

12 Tomovski, op. cit., 54; Ayverdi, op. cit., 97; R. Momidi¢-
Petkova, ‘Hamza beg UC Seihler dzamija vo_Bitola’,
Zbornik na trudovi, vol. 9, Zavod za zastita na spomenicite
na kulturata, zavod i muzej (1988-89) 95-109.

13 Tevfik, op. cit., 219-220; Tomovski, op. cit., 1957, 58.

4 Ayverdi, op. cit., 97.

15 Tevfik, op. cit., 220.

16 The hagiography of St John Vladimir was published in
”Akoluthia of St John Viadimir” in Moschopolis and Ven-
ice in 1741. It narrates that Bulgarian Tsar, John Vladis-
lav killed and beheaded the Montenegrin prince John
Vladimir on the road from Ohrid to Bitola, at the place
called Derven. The body of St Vladimir, also called Shin
Gyon (St John) had remained in Kraina at Skadar Lake
until 1215, and after it was removed to the monastery near
Elbasan, where the remains are still kept and honored by
the Christians and by the Muslims. S. Antoljak, Samuel
and his state, Skopje 1985, 118-119, n. 951, 952, 954; R.
Matthews, Sons of Eagle, wanderings in Albania, London
1937, 25; H. Roeder, Saints and their attributes, London,
New York, Toronto 1995, 187. Similar legends are con-
nected with St Miniato al Monte of Florence and St Alba-
nos of Mainz. It is an ancient form of the Christian martyr
represented as a kefaloforos.



Fig. 3, The tiirbe of Hasan Baba

modest tomb of Hasan Baba, a simple mausoleum, a
dervish tekke and a mosque were built. Fazli Pasa reno-
vated the mosque in 1883.!7 The mosque courtyard had
a cemetery with artistically decorated nineteenth cen-
tury tombstones. The mosque was recently renovated.

The small, sturdy mosque has harmonious propor-
tions. It has a single portico, which was added later.
An octagonal dome covered by terracotta roof tiles
sits on an octagonal drum without windows. The base
of the prayer room is 6 x 6 m, and the thickness of
the walls is 0.90m.'® The masonry is a coarse stone
with mortar. Two arched windows and one smaller
window at the top open in each side-wall. The fagade
is whitewashed, simply decorated with three rows
of saw-tooth cornices. The simplicity is visible in-
side, with plaster-profiled squinches and mihrab
niche. The most remarkable feature of the building
is a sturdy polygonal minaret in Selcuk style, whose
entrance is accessible through the porch. A similar
model of a mosque can be found in the much ear-
lier mosque of Hoca Yadigar in Inénii (Turkey) from
the year 776 AH/ 1374." The entire simplicity of the

17 Tevfik, op. cit., 219; Hasluck, op. cit., 356-360. The
Hasan Baba mosque was visited by Hasluck and he noted:
The Nakshbendi tekke is on the outskirts of the town, con-
taining the tomb of Hasan Baba, which is famous for its
miracles. The saint is said to have fallen under the dis-
pleasure of a Sultan who sent men to hang him. Fleeing
from them, the saint had turbes at many places through
which he passed, in order to deceive the sultan into be-
lieving him dead. Consequently, cenotaphs of Hasan Baba
exist in various parts, as at Kosovo, Uskiib, Adrianople,
Constantinople (in Divan Y6lu), Anatolia and Egypt.

¥ Ayverdi, op. cit., 98.

9 A. Kuran, The Mosque in Early Ottoman architecture,
Chicago and London 1968, 70.

Hasan Baba mosque denotes that
it is a Naksbendi place of devo-
tion. The tiirbe mausoleum is a
simple and elegant, rectangular
building covered by a hipped
roof and adorned by a marble
alem (Fig. 3, The tiirbe of Hasan
Baba) Inside there is a wooden
Tabut covered by a silk fabric
with Koranic verse, where the
body of Hasan Baba was bur-
ied*® On the northwestern side
of the mosque there is a variety
of graves and tombstones, deco-
rated in the nineteenth century
Ottoman Baroque style. It might
be that the tekke was originally in
the porch or in the mosque itself.
A few years ago the Islamic com-
munity started the renovation of
the mosque building with the minaret, the mausoleum
and the graveyard, which are surrounded with a stone-
wall. There is another Bektasi’s tekke in the vicinity.
Uc¢ Seyhler or Hamza Bey Cami. The mosque of
Three Sheyks is in the western town district named
after Hamza Bey, between the Kuruderesi stream and
the tower of Zandan kulesi. This mosque may date to
the sixteen century or before the year 1634. (Fig. 4,
The mosque of Three Sheyks) The only records are
the date of 1798 painted on the drum of the dome
and a marble inscription that says the building was
renovated in 1273 AH/ 1857-58.2' The Ug Seyhler
or Hamza Bey mosque does not have an inscrip-
tion plaque of foundation and no archive records are
available to determine its date of construction. There
is a possible connection with the Hamza Bey mosque
in Salonica, built in 1468 by his daughter Hafsa and
reconstructed in 1619. Hamza Bey was an important
commander under the sultans Murad II (1421-1444,
1446-1451) and Mehmed II (1444-1446, 1451-1481).
He had his feudal goods in Thrace, and he built a za-
viye in Edirne, which became the center of the Hal-
veti dervish order that arrived in Europe under Sultan
Bayezit IT (1481-1512).%

2 H.W. Lowry, In the footsteps of the Ottomans, A search
for sacred space & architecture monuments in Northern
Greece, Istanbul 2009, 28-30.

2 Tevfik, op. cit., 214, 222; M. Cohen,’Villes macédoni-
ennes. Florina-Nevoljani’, La Géographie, vol. 34, Paris
1920, 97-114. In the neighboring town of Hlerin/Florina,
a former quarter was called Hamza Bey, also known as
Kourshoumli or Imaret, and had two mosques: one was
Hamza Bey or Kourshoumli, and the second one was Yeni
Cami. Tomovski, op. cit., 1957, 54; Ayverdi, op. cit., 97,
Momidié-Petkova, op. cit., 1988-89, 99.

2 M. Kiel, Studies on the Ottoman Architecture of the Bal-
kans, Aldershot, Brookfield 1990, 1/131-134.
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Fig. 4, The mosque of Three Sheyks

Fig. 4a, The mosque of Three Sheyks
Bitola’s mosque of Three Sheyks was a center of the
Halveti Sufi order’s activities in the town. The vakif
of this mosque was mentioned for the first time in
1633 and the building was recorded in 1634 as an en-
dowment of Hamza Bey. These dates come from the
court record preserved in Manastir.”® In the second

2 Momidié¢-Petkova, op. cit., 98; Turski dokumenti za is-
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part of the eighteen century the year ‘1798’ written
in red paint was still visible on the southern side of
the mosque’ drum.?* It might be that that was the year
of renovation. According to the preserved marble
plaque inscription from 1857-58, another renovation
was completed. A simple portico was added at that
time. Some donors contributed to the mosque com-
plex: Defterdar Ali in 1853 and Emir Pasa in 1864.
That was one of the reasons this mosque was known
under the names Defterdar Ali and Emir Pasa in the
19" century.” At its zenith the whole mosque com-
plex consisted of a mosque, a Sibyan mekteb from
1716, a medrese ‘Tevfikiye’, a Halveti tekke with a
mausoleum on the opposite side of the street and a
dervish cemetery within the walled courtyard.

The three seyks, Ibrahim, Abdul Kerim and Ahmed,
were the spiritual leaders of the branch of Halveti
dervishes at the end of the eighteen-century and they
were followers of Halveti seyk Mehmed Hayati.?® He
was a Sufi leader from the second half of the 18th
century and he was a founder of Astahane-yi Hayati-
yye in the neighboring town of Ohri/Ohrid. His cen-
tral tekke had subsidiary branches through Macedo-
nia (in Kesrye/Kastoria) and Albania.?” He settled in
Ohrid where he adapted an old medrese into the first
tekke of the Halveti Hayati order. For Bitola/Manastir
the major center of the Halveti order was the zaviye
at the mosque of Ug Seyhler. One part of the branch
was also present in the
nearby town of Hlerin/
Filurina.?®

The plan of the
mosque is a rectan-
gular base measuring
8.90 x 10.21m, a sort
of simplified ‘Zaviye
mosque’, with a pro-
truding  rectangular
apse, measuring 5.50
x 2.60 m. The mihrab
is placed in the apsi-
dal niche, creating a
division of the central
place in two parts.”® A
flat-topped roof covers
the apse and there are
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torijata na makedonskiot narod, (ed. V. Boskov), Ser.l,
vol.2, (1607-1699), Skopje 1966, sicil 3/p. 33 a-1.

2 Tomovski, op. cit., 1957, 54.

% Momidi¢-Petkova, op. cit., 1988, 98, 99; Tevfik, op. cit., 222.
2 Tevfik, op. cit., 234.

2 F.de Yong, ‘Khalwattiyya’, Encyclopaedia of Islam, (ed.
E.van Donzel et alli), vol. IV, Leiden 1978, 991.

28 Cohen, op. cit., 112.

2 G. Goodwin, ‘The Dervish Architecture in Anatolia’,
The Dervish lodge, Berkeley, Los Angeles, Oxford 1992,
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Fig. 5, "The Broken mosque’

two elegant arched windows in the southern Qible
wall. The unusual design of the apse is a result of the
mutual influence of Byzantine and Early Ottoman ar-
chitecture, which has its beginnings in the fourteenth
century.’® This architectural element was introduced
at the mosque of Murad I in Bursa, the mosque of Yu-
suf Paga of 1429 and the mental hospital of Bayezit
II built in 1485 in Edirne, the Mehmed Bey mosque
in Siroz built in 1491, the Hussamedin PaSa mosque
in Stip, the Sinan Pasa mosque in Prizren, the Alaca
mosque in Skopje, the Hiisrev Bey mosque in Sara-

57-69. The Zaviye mosque combined the traditional prayer
settings with one or more adjacent spaces for secular use.
Similarities are seen at the Bayezit Pasa mosque in Amasya
and in Hudavendigar mosque in Cekirce, near Bursa.

30 Kuran, op. cit., 1968, 121. The idea of placing the mi-
hrab in the apsidal niche goes back to the fourteenth cen-
tury. Two nearby examples of this are the mosques of Mu-
rat Hudavendigar in Bursa of 1385-86, and Davud Pasa
in Istanbul of 1485. Because of this unusual discrepancy,
the apsidal niche is seldom seen in single-unit mosques
during the early Ottoman period. Then, many of the Sinan
mosques dating from the 1580’s have an apsidal niche. In
his formative years Sinan used the apsidal niche only for
a special purpose.
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jevo of 1531, the Ferhadiyye in Banja Luka of 1531
and so on.*! This type of mosque construction shows
the strong connections between local Balkan and
Byzantine traditions combined with Ottoman archi-
tecture.

A dome that is set on an octagonal drum by squinches
between the inter-sides of pointed arches covers the
interior space of the mosque Uc Seyhler. Remnants
of colored ornament and rosettes in stucco decoration
are still visible in layers on the walls. The masonry
of the walls is composed of bands of three to five
rows of brick and worked blocks of stone, with a final
upper cornice of saw-tooth in brick. There are eight
windows in the lower level of the walls, crowned by
simple stalactite niches and above these lateral win-
dows there are for arched windows.

The well-preserved polygonal minaret built of stone
and brick is 23.40 m. in high. It has a serefe deco-
rated with stalactites and a balcony with a marble
parapet. One enters the mosque building through an
added porch measuring 5m. x 10.25 m, with a sloping
roof.3? The walled entrance gate was once adorned
with a marble plaque, 35 cm. x 35 cm, that mentioned
the renovation of the building in 1273 AH/1857-58.
The tekke and the mausoleum of Three Sheiks were
ruined already in 1911, but the final blow was during
the First World War, when the town suffered heavy
artillery bombardment. These days the portico is used
as a dwelling and the mosque building is in disrepair.
Some tombstones are still visible on the western side
of the mosque.

The Yikik Cami (Kiritk Cami), ‘The Broken
mosque’. This small mosque, popularly known as
‘SkrSena dzamija’ was situated in the southern parts
of the town, at a distance from the market and on the
street, which headed towards ‘The Flax Bridge’ (Len-
ski most). (Fig. 5, ‘The Broken mosque’)

According to the local oral Christian tradition, ‘The
Broken mosque’ was originally the church Saint
Nicholas, which was converted after the Ottoman
conquest.>* The comparatively recent name of ‘The
Broken mosque’ is connected with the ruined mina-
ret, which suffered heavy damage from artillery in

31 Goodwin, op. cit., 1971, 41, 382-386, 388-391; Kiel,
op. cit., 1990, 111/443, VIII/158; A. Andrejevi¢, Islamska
monumentalna umetnost XVI veka u Jugoslaviji, Beograd
1984, 30, 31, 40, 41; L. Kumbaradzi-Bogojevi¢, Osman-
liski spomenici vo Skopje, Skopje 1998, 32-33; H. Redzi¢,
Islamska umjetnost, Beograd, Zagreb, Mostar 1982, 71-77.
32Ayverdi, op. cit., 97; Tomovski, op. cit., 1957, 54; R.
Momidi¢-Petkova, ‘Hamza beg U¢ Seihler dzamija vo
Bitola’, Zbornik na trudovi, vol. 9, Zavod za zaStita na
spomenicite na kulturata, zavod i muzej (1988-89) 98-99.
33 HadZi Vasiljevi¢, op. cit., 20; M. Cepenkov, Predanija,
vol.7, Skopje 1972, 222.



the First World War.** The
mosque was visited by
Muslims and by Chris-

tians, who lit their can- - -3

dles on the eastern wall,
a sort of religious syncre-
tism not uncommon in the
town. The archaeological
excavations executed in
1974 did not reveal any
previous foundations un-
der the mosque. On the
southwestern side a well
(0.50 x 1.50 m.) was
discovered, with some
fragments of marble and
human bones. The build-
ing was in bad condition
and it was demolished in
1974.%

The Broken mosque was a modest building, with a
prayer hall measuring 7.93 x 7.93 m, surmounted by
a shallow dome (6m. in span) resting on pendentives.
The drum was simplified by using the corners of the
upper part of the pendentives. It was an ancient and
simplified transitional type of early mosque. From
the square body, via the pendentives, the upper part
was transformed into a hemispherical shallow dome.
The masonry of the walls was a sequence of courses
of stone and four layers of brick, with a wall thick-
ness of one meter. The upper parts of the building
were built of coarse stone and covered by terracotta
tiles. The minaret had a base built by stone and brick,
but the shaft and serefe balcony were entirely con-
structed of brick. On the northern side a portico of
3.72 x 7.93 m. with a barrel vault existed before the
First World War.*®

It is possible that the mosque was built in the six-
teenth or seventeen century, as a product of provin-
cial architectural conservatism.

The Egrikas Efendi Cami or Ayse Hatun Cami.
This mosque was located on the eastern side of the
Upper Wood market, close to the dervishes’ tombs of
Tez Veren Baba and Yeni hamam. (Fig. 6. The Egrikas
Efendi mosque) This simple mosque building be-
longs to the period between the sixteen and the sev-
enteen-century. The Egrikas Efendi, ‘The Gentleman
with the crooked eyebrow’, was the old name of the
building, probably connected with the founder. The
second name of the mosque was Ayse Hatun after a
lady who renovated and donated a pious endowment

3 Tomovski, op. cit., 1957, 33, 34, 39; Ayverdi, op. cit., 107.
35D, Cornakov, Izvestaj od arheoloskite iskopuvanja na loka-
litetot Skrsena dZamija Bitola, fevruari 1974, (unpublished).
3¢ Ibid. A section and ground plan were made in 1974.
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Fig. 6. The Egrikas Efendi mosque

Fig. 7. Paftali mosque
of one shop for the mosque. It was registered in the

Land Survey Cadastral archives of 1203 AH/ 1788.%’
A hipped roof and old terracotta tiles covered the rec-

37 Ayverdi, op. cit. 96; I am very grateful to Mr. Sulejman
Ali from Bitola for the information concerning the Egrikas
mosque history.



tangular prayer hall of the building.
The type of building was provincial
and practical with a fagade built in
a combination of stone and brick.
The mosque had a particularly high
minaret built of stone; the polygo-
nal shaft had a serefe balcony, and a
conical cap covered with lead. The
form of the minaret and the balcony
were characteristic of numerous
late sixteen and seventeen century
buildings. There were some paral-
lels in Bitola, especially with the
Koca Kadi Cami, which is located
in the vicinity.

The Paftali Cami. The mosque is
situated in the northern part of the
town, on the slopes of the hill Bayrr,
close to the old fountain called
‘Soguk c¢esme.” (Fig. 7, Paftali
mosque) That was one of the old-
est parts of the Ottoman town, since
the conquest, and it was known as
the district ‘Bayir mahalle.’

There are no data, nor any inscrip-
tions preserved about the Paftali
mosque. According to Ayverdi
the name ‘Paftali’ is unusual for a
mosque. In the past a small grave-
yard used to exist and a Mekteb
school was part of the mosque. At
the end of the 19th century an ad-
ditional rectangular prayer hall
was built on the southern side.
The mosque was covered by sheet
lead, which disappeared a long time
ago.’

The modest, but harmonious
mosque has a square base meas-
uring 5.80 m. x 5.80 m. The inte-
rior space is topped by a octagonal
drum with dome on four deep-sit-
ting pendentives, which are visible
from outside. On the southern fagade, there are two
rectangular windows each in a marble frame crowned
by a decoratively executed relieving arch of bricks.
The mosque is built of fairly good Cloisonné work,
mostly of coarse blocks of stone with three courses
of brick and worked blocks of porous ashlar at the
corners. A long time ago the entrance was from the

38 Turski dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod,
(ed. M.Sokoloski), Ser.I, vol 3, (1636-1639), Skopje 1969,
174, sicil 6, page 1-b/I1I; Tevfik, op. cit., 221. I am indebt-
ed to my friend and colleague, professor Mudzaid Asimov
for the information and help.
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Fig. 9. Kizlar Bey Tiirbe

eastern side, but now it is through the minaret base.
The minaret built on the western side is unusually
attached to the prayer hall and to the dome, and its
entrance is from the street. The masonry of the base
and the polygonal shaft are of fine worked ashlar
stone, but the balcony is built of brick. The mosque
and the minaret are provincial representatives of
Early Classical Ottoman architecture. There are simi-
larities with the architecture of the Broken mosque
(Kirtk Cami) which was situated on the southern side
of town, over the river Dragor. There is a tomb in-
side the prayer hall of unknown origin. This type of
mosque has some features of a mausoleum building.



The single-domed building of the Paftali mosque is
in a bad state of disrepair. The 19" century prayer
hall on the southern side is now used as a carpenter’s
workshop.

The Sabuni Cami or Sapuncu Cami. This mosque
was mentioned in 1639 when the muezzin Umer was
appointed for service. The mosque was located in the
quarter of Kara Oglan, between the Sungur Cavus
mosque and the Haydar Kadi mosque, opposite the
Debboy hamam. Blacksmith’s shops surrounded it.
Tevfik wrote a short biography about the local holy
man, Sapunci Zade, who was one of descendants of
the Sapuncu family. He was buried in the quarter of
Kara Oglan.

Mescids. A number of mescids are known from his-
torical documents.

The Seyh Hizair Bali Mescid The mescid of Hizir
Bali was included in the Vakif of the Vizier Ahmed
Pasa. In 1606 the vakif had a fund of 60,000 akge
with an interest of 9,000 ak¢e. The miitevelli was
Omer Celebi, son of Emir Sah.*

The Haci Kethiida Mescid. Around the year 1610
Hac1 Hiiseyn, the Imam of the Haci Kethiida mescid
and the muezzin Halil ibn Dervis were guarantors for
the Vakif of Ahmed Pasa. Kurd Cavus was the ad-
ministrator of the vakif.*

The Ahmed Efendi Mescid. Hizir Celebi was the
muezzin of this mescid in 1610. In Ayverdi’s list of
mosques, a mosque of Ahmed Efendi cami was reg-
istered in the Cadastral defter number 93 of the year
1087 AH/ 1673-4.4!

The Mahmud Aga Mescid. In 1610 Saban Halife
was the Imam of the mescid. #

The Kiiciik Sinan Mescid.In 1639 Ahmed Celebi
the Imam of the Kiiclik Sinan mescid, went on pil-
grimage. This mescid was located in the quarter of
Ogul Paga.* (Fig. 8, An unknown mosque)

Kizlar Bey Tiirbe, ‘The Open Tiirbe’. An open
mausoleum known as Kizlar Bey Tiirbe was located
at the Turkish cemetery on the northeastern outskirts

3 Turski dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod,
op. cit., 1963, 1 sicil 1, list 1b-8a; Ayverdi, op. cit., 96;
Tevfik, op. cit., 227, It might be that the Hizir Bali mescid
was connected with the Halveti Sheyh Hizir Bali who died
in Bitola around 971 AH/ 1563-1564.

4 Turski dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod,
op. cit., 1963, 7, sicil 1, page 17b-19a.

Turski dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod,
(ed. M. Sokoloski, A. Starova, V. Boskov and F. Ishak),
Ser. I, vol.1, (1607-1623) Skopje 1963, 7 sicil 1, page 17b-
19a; Ayverdi, op. cit., 95.

2 Turski dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod,
op. cit., 1963, 7, sicil 1, page 17b-19a.

43 Turski dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod
(ed. M.Sokoloski), Ser.I, vol 3, (1636-1639), Skopje 1969,
262, sicil 6, page 18-b/I.
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Fig. 9a. Kizlar Bey Tiirbe

of the town. (Fig. 9, Kizlar Bey Tiirbe) It was situ-
ated in the sixteenth-century town quarter of ‘Kizlar
Bey’ surrounded by vineyards. The tiirbe was built
on the top of the hill at the beginning of the sixteenth
century or later.*

According to the local legend published by Hasluck,
the open mausoleum was the spot, where the Mus-
lim hoga was buried and °...someone dreamt that the
grave contained a body of a girl, and on examina-
tion it was found that the body of a Christian king’s
daughter had been miraculously substituted for that
of the khoja.** A similar story existed about the tiirbe
of Kral K’zi in Skopje where the body of Catherine
Tomasevi¢, the daughter of the last Bosnian king,
Stephen Tomasevi¢, was buried at the end of the
fifteenth century and the beginning of the sixteenth
century.* Similar legends can be found around the

4 Turski dokumenti za istorijata na makedonskiot narod,
op. cit., 1969, 52; Mihajlovski, op. cit., 2001, 69-70.

4 Hasluck, op. cit., 360.

4 Kumbaradzi-Bogojevié, op. cit., 124.



Fig. 10. Zandan Kules: (Ocak)

Mediterranean region; at Mecca, Nablus, Egypt and
Algiers.”” In Hasluck’s opinion women commonly
built open tiirbes for their own shelter and retreat and
for other women mourning their dead.*

The Kizlar Bey tiirbe had a square base with dimen-
sions of 5.16 x 5.31 m. and a height of 7.76 m. The
mausoleum had an octagonal dome 3.10 m. in span,
on pendentives, carried by four huge corner piers
measuring 1.03 x 1.03 m. The building material was
dressed stone, which alternated with three courses of
brick. There was meander decoration on the facade
made out of brick (a shallow and a developed type).
Saw-tooth cornices topped the decorative friezes.
Terracotta tiles with a marble alem on the top covered
the upper part of the dome.* When it was visited and
drawn by Edward Lear in 1848 a marble cenotaph
was still visible under the tiirbe, but later it disap-

47 Hasluck, op. cit., 448.

“ Ibidem, 73, 350. The Kizlar Bey mausoleum in Bitola
was at an open tlirbe where local people used to pray in
times of drought. Contrary to the Muslim custom in ordi-
nary prayers the hands of the supplicants taking part in the
appeal for rain extended their palms downwards or, it was
believed the prayer had no effect.

4 K. Tomovski, ‘Pregled na poznacajnite turbinja vo
Makedonija,” Godisnik na Tehnickiot fakultet 1957/58,
Skopje 1957/1958, 107.
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peared.” The mausoleum was ruined in 1995 by an
earthquake, but in 1996 the Islamic community and
the Institute for the Protection of Cultural Heritage
started a project for the reconstruction and restoration
of the Open tiirbe in Bitola.*!

Closely connected to the Kizlar Bey tiirbe are some
open mausolea in Skopje, such as Kral K’zi, Hatun-
ciklar, Alt1 Ayak, dated 1690, and Ali Pasa of Dag-
estan, dated 1774. There are similar turbes in Sara-
jevo at the Alifakovac cemetry and in Foca.**2The
hexagonal base of the Deliktas minaret of Bursa,
which served as Sadirvan, resembled Bitola’s Kizlar
Bey tiirbe.>

Through my resent field research I have discovered an
old photo in the Museum of Bitola collection. A tiirbe
with similar architectural design, covered by terra cot-
ta tiles was situated on the hill “Tumbeki’ above the
military garrison. This tiirbe where lied the body of
legendary local dervish, Ciger Baba, was described by
Hasluck and Tevfik.**

Zandan Kules1 (Ocak). Another Ottoman monu-
ment in the town was connected with the Sufi or-
der’s activities. It is a well-preserved stone tower,
which stands in the schoolyard on the western side
of the town. (Fig. 10) At the beginning of the last
century the tower was in a private property sur-
rounded by a 3 m. high wall. It was situated in the
area among the town quarters of Hamza Bey, Sinan
Bey and Kaygusiz, near the mosques Ug Seyhler and
Zandancik or Dervis Cami.*

The founder and the spiritual father of Zandan kule
was Haci Mahmud efendi, also known as Kuleli
Miifti Seyh Mahmud efendi or Hirka Baba. Around
1038 AH/ 1628 he was Miifti of Manastir. After a few
years he retreated and became ‘a learned Naksbendi
divine’ and a Seyk of a branch of Nakgbendi dervish-
es. He built a stone tower (Kulah) on his property

S0 E. Lear, Journals of a Landscape Painter in Greece and
Albania, London, Melbourne, Auckland, Johannesburg
1988, 79.

51 Mihajlovski, op. cit., 2001, 70.

52 Redzi¢, op. cit., 81.

53 Goodwin, op. cit., 1971, 65.

54 Tevfik, op. cit. 217-218; Hasluck, op. cit., 358-359.
SAyverdi, op. cit.,, 109. The name Zandan kule means
that the tower was temporary used as a prison. The sec-
ond name, ‘Ogak’ denotes tower as a center for spiritual
activities. D. Dimitrovski, Elaborat za kulturno-istoriskiot
spomenik ‘Zandan kule’ vo Bitola, Bitola 1966, 1-5. Ac-
cording to the local Imam Mr. Necip Ahmed the Turkish
name for prison was Hapsane. In the past there were only
two prisons in Bitola: Cingel Karakol in the eastern parts
of the town and another one close to the Eski Cifte Ham-
mam. Momidié-Petkova, op. cit., 1988, 95-107; K. Balab-
anov, A. Nikolovski, D. Cornakov, Spomenici na kulturata
na Makedonija, (ed. B. Pavlovski) Skopje 1980, 200.



from which he got his nickname, Kuleli.’® It was the
residence of his family and a spot where he lived a
secluded spiritual life. According to legend, ‘one day
the seyk disappeared mysteriously and none knew
where he died or was buried; the clothes he was
wearing, including the Habit (Hirka) were found in
the garden, the spot being marked by an enclosure
resembling a tomb on which candles are lit.”>" He left
his Dervish cap (Tac) and a Pouch (Cemer) that were
kept with the Khirka in a chest in the upper story of
the tower as relics. ‘The water in which the khirka
has been dipped has the virtue of killing or curing
sufferers from chronic diseases; it is said sometimes
to be administered without the knowledge of the pa-
tient by his sympathetic (or impatient) relatives.’*
The spouse of Hirka Baba also disappeared in a simi-
lar way, leaving behind her belt, which is ‘shown and
is worn by childless women in the hope of its remov-
ing their sorrow.”® Hasluck met the old guardian
(Tiirbedar) aged 90 years, who was of the sixth gen-
eration of descendants of Hirka Baba. In the tower
was kept another relic: a hair of the Prophet’s beard,
which was sent in a bottle to the seyk and taken three
days before Ramazan Bayram, on Leylet-iil Kadr in a
procession to the large Ishakkiye mosque, where the
faithful kiss it.®* In the upper floor was kept a collec-
tion of religious books and manuscripts from the time
of Kuleli Mahmud Efendi, but the Governor (Vali)
Huseyn Pasa confiscated them in 1280 AH/1863,
when they vanished.®!

The Zandan kule tower has a rectangular base of 6.50
x 5.35 m. The wall thickness is between 1.08 and
1.22 m and on the upper parts it narrows to 0.98 m.
The masonry is coarse stone and mortar with a four-
row saw-tooth cornice on the top. The height of the
tower is 10.95 m. and a hipped roof in a combination
of terracotta and slate tiles covers it. The entrance is
on the southwestern side at a height of 2.30 m., and
is accessible only by a wooden ladder. On the upper
facades are pointed arch windows crowned by deco-

3 Tevfik, op. cit., 223.

57 Hasluck, op. cit., 358; H.B. Tanman ‘Settings for the
veneration of saints’, The Dervish lodge, Berkeley, Los
Angeles, Oxford 1992, 135, 169. The tomb of Hirka Baba
was believed to possess thaumaturgic powers that had the
sacred gifts of healing (sifa). The tradition of pilgrimage to
the relics was strong in the East. Such was the relic Hirka-1
Serif (The Mantle of the Prophet) in the Fatih mosque.
Hence pilgrimage to the relics of the saint occurred on cer-
tain Holy days and nights, when not only the members of
the same order, but also the local congregation visited ‘The
saint’s tomb’ in their local lodge.

58 Hasluck, op. cit., 359.

9 Idem, 359.

¢ Mihajlovski, op. cit., 2001, 71; Hasluck, op. cit., 359.

o Tevfik, op. cit., 223.
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ratively executed arches of brick. The interior of the
tower formed a three-storied building that comprised
a ground floor with a well; a mezzanine floor of 0.90
m, which served as a storage space, and in the up-
per floor a dwelling, which was equipped with differ-
ent niches containing a lavatory, a hearth, a washing
place, a loophole and so on. It was a residential place
for the seyk and his family to stay for a long period.®
At the time of the Ilinden insurrection in 1903, the
tower was temporarily in use for imprisonment and
that is how it was named ‘Zandan kule’ (The Dark
tower). During the heavy artillery bombardment in
the First World War the turbedar’ family members
also used it for shelter.®

This type of tower was commonly built in the west-
ern Balkans during the Middle Ages for different pur-
poses. The Muslim Beys in Macedonia and Epirus
built them for personal protection as was the case for
those towers that are preserved in Skopje, Kocani and
Albania. In the mining town of Kratovo such towers
were commonly used to deposit monies or precious
goods and metals.*

The Ottoman settlement transformed the mediaeval
Bitola into the city of Toli Manastir. Successive pa-
trons embellished the town with mosques and other
public buildings. Amid these Muslim buildings there
were still churches and synagogues in the Christian
and Jewish quarters. The ‘Golden period’ of monu-
mental sixteen-century architecture was already
gone, and throughout the city was rarely built new
mosques. At the beginning of the eighteen-century
the architectural activity was stagnant and mainly it
was influenced by eclecticism of the styles from the
capital city.

62 Dimitrovski, op. cit., 6-9.

¢ Konstantinovi Brothers, Bifola, Bitola 1964, 91-93; D.
Dimitrovski, op. cit., 4.

8 K. Tomovski, R. Volinec, M. Tokarev, E. Hadzievska-
Aleksievska, Kratovo, Skopje 1980, 43-48; Kumbaradzi-
Bogojevi¢ op. cit.,, 217; 1. R. Lawless, 'Berat and Gji-
rokaster: two museums in Albania’, Islam in the Balkans,
Edinburgh 1979, 9-17; People of Turkey: twenty years’
residence among Bulgarians, Greeks, Albanians, Turks
and Armenians. By a consul’s daughter and wife, (ed.
Lane Poole), London 1878, 229.

$Contact address: Dr R. Mihajlovski, Australian Catholic
University, 117 Victoria Pde., Fitzroy 3065, Vic, Australia.
E-mail: robertmanastir@yahoo.com



Pobepr MUXAJJIIOBCKU

OCMAHCKA PEJIUT'HO3HA APXUTEKTYPA BO BUTOJIA/MAHACTHUP
BO CEAYMHAECETTHOT BEK

Pe3ume

Ocmanckuot narenucen] Epnuja Yenebuja, aBTopoT
Ha matenvcHara kaura ‘CejaxaTHame’ ja mocetd bu-
tona Bo 1661. EBnuja numysa aeka butona e Bo 00-
nmacta Pymenmja, kako Xac Ha darmma, Kepkara Ha
cynranotr Axmen III. Co rpamot ympaByBas BojBofa,
a UMaJIo MPEICTaBHUIM HAa BEPCKUTE W LUBHIHHUTE
BJIACTH, CO CTaTyC Ha IIEeXep, Kako €JeH IOrojeM
rpaa Bo mumnepujara. ['pagor mman ybaBu paMum,
MenpecH, OE3UCTEH, IEBeT CTOTUHH JAyKaHH, Kako H
HMMapeTH IOKPUEHH CO OJIOBO.

[exep Tomn ManacT’p mocemyBall jaBHU Tpai0Ou
Oamu kou Oea NenoBU of Bakadure. PazHoBUIHUTE
ma3apu ja mpaBea OWTOJICKaTa 4apiuuja, O€3UCTEHOT
U apacrara [o3HaTy BO OBOj Jie)l Ha uMrepujara. Ho,
3a pasluKa OJ TPaJUTEICKHOT IOJeM BO IIeCHae-
CETTHOT BEK, BO CEIyMAaHECETHOT BEK HE ce rpazea
TOJIKY MOHYMEHTAJIHM amMuu. Tue Oea M3rpajgeHu
Ha JIecHara CTpaHa Off peKara Kako M BO TOPHUTE Jie-
J0BH oA 1eBuoT Oper. (dur.1)

Bo nmoHaTaMOIIHUOT TEKCT aBTOPOT MPAaBH €IHA MO
poOHa aHanM3a W OMUC Ha PEIUTHO3ZHOTO OCMAHCKO
IPaZInTEINICKO HACJIEACTBO O] OBOj IEPHOLL.

Xacan 0a0a namuja ce Haora BO 3alIaJAHUOT A€ Ha
JleCHaTa cTpaHa of pekara Bo Mayup maano. M3rpa-
neHa e nmomely 1628 u 1640 npu cynranor Mypat
IV, a obHOBeHa Bo 1883 on komannanrtor Ha Tperara
apmuja Bo butomna, ®@aznu lama. Ciopen nmokanHara
nerenaa XacaH baba e MadeHHK KOj ce JKPTBYBAII 3a
CBOjOT OyxoBeH yuuten [lurep baba u mopanm Toa
My OuIla OTCeueHa IJiaBaTa, HO TOj ja OJIHEN IJiaBaTta
Ha MECTOTO KaJle TIOIOIHA € U3rpajieHa [IaMujara co
TypOeTo. OBaa JiereH/1a IMa aHaJIOTHja CO XPUCTH]aH-
CKHOT Ma4YeHHUK CBETH JoBaH Bmamumup xoj Owmir er-
3eKyTHpaH Bo Onm3uHara Ha buTona Bo equHaeccetn
Bek. [lamujara e co auMeH3un o 6 X 6 METpH U €
rpajieHa € oJl KaMEeH CO MaJTep, a MUHAPETO € MOIH-
THATO BO CENy4Yku cThil. TypOeto co rpodoT ¢ Ha
3armajHara CTpaHa M € OOWKOJIIEHO CO rpo0HmTa U
HaarpoOHu criomeHuI|. (dur. 2), (dwur.3).
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Y4 lllenxnep nian Xam3a bej nammja. Ce Haora
Ha 3amaHyoT el Ha IPaZoT, BO HEKOTallHOTO Ma-
ano Xam3a bej. OBaa yamuja Moke 1a Ouje naTupa-
Ha mipen 1634 roquna, a mogorHa Bo 1857 roguHa e
peHoBupana. M Bo CoiyH nma jaMuja MoCBETeHa Ha
Xam3a bej, koj O BoeH KOMaH/IaHT BO BPEMETO Ha
cynran Mexmen II. BUTOICKMOT TaMUCKH KOMILJIEKC
HEKOTralll UMaJ [JaMuja co rpoduinTa, CudjaH MEKTeO,
Mejpeca rno3Hara kako ‘Tedukuje’, motoa eqHo Xai-
BETHU TeKe M TypOe co rpoOOBH Ha JpyTara CTpaHa Ha
ynunara. imumara Ha Tpute menka omine Mopaxum,
Abnyn Kepum 1 Axmen u Trie Oniie IpUNIaJHAIA Ha
JEepBUILKOT pen XanBeTu, 1uj ueHtap Oeme Bo Ox-
pua. [lamujara e co qumensun ox 8.90 x 10.21 M, u
€ OJ1 THIIOT Ha ‘3aBHje JaMHH CO e/lHa IIPaBOoarojHa
aricuza Kaje € cMecTeH Muxpabot. OBoj apXUTEKTOH-
CKH €JIEMEHT CO BH3AHTHCKO BIIMjaHHE MOXE Ja ce
Hajae Hu3 pamuure Bo Enpene, Ilpuspen, Llrtum,
Crkorje, CapaeBo 1 bama Jlyka. (®ur. 4), (dur4a).
Ckpumiena yammja uam Yikik cami. Ce Haora BO
JY’)KHUTE JIEIOBU Ha TPajoT, BO OMM3WHA Ha TJIABHU-
oT nazap u Jlencku MocT. belie Temiko omreTeHa Bo
IIpBara cBeTcka BojHa, HO Oellle TOCETyBaHAa U OJ
MYCIMMaHHUTE M XpUCTHjaHUTE BO rpagoT. Ce Bepy-
Ballle Jicka OBaa [1aMuja O0ece U3rpajicHa Ha TeMEH
on 1pkBa ‘Cetn Hukoma’, HO apXeOJIOMIKUTE UCTPa-
XKyBarma Bo 1974 ronmuHu HE TO MOTBpAHWja Toa. Mo-
JUTBEHHOT MIPOCTOP Ha [JaMHjaTra Oere co CKPOMHHU
quMeH3un of 7.93x7.93 M., koj mpeKky maHIaHTHBU
Oece 3acBelleH co IUIMTKa Kymoja. TpeMoT Ha ceBep-
Hara cTpaHa co AuMeH3uH of 3.72 x 7.93 wm., Gemre
NOKpHEeH co noiy Oouect cBoa. OBaa pamuja my
mpurarace Ha TPOBUHIIMOHAIHAOT apXUTEKTOHCKH
KOH3EpPBaTHBEH CTUJI OJ1 KPajoT Ha IIECHAECETTH BEK
Y TIOYETOKOT Ha CelyMHaeCceTTH Bek. (Dur.5).
Erpuxam edennn namuja. Ce Haorame Ha ‘/[pBeH
nazap’ BO OJHM3MHATAa HA JNEPBHUIIKHOT Tpod Ha Tes
BepeH baba. mace HeoOnuno nme ‘Ilamuja Ha roc-
MMOIMHOT CO KpWBa Bera’, u Oerre 0OHOBEHA Off TOC-



morara Ajuie XaTyH BO OCyMaHECETTH BeK. 3rpajara
Oellle eJHOCTaBHA, IOKPHEHA CO KEPaMUICH MTOKPUB
¥ UMallle MacMBHO 3UJaHO MUHaApe co mepede Oan-
koH. CTWJICKM My TIpumarace Ha CeTyMHAECETTHOT
BEK W uMalle cnuaHocTH co Korna kaam jammja xoja
Oemre Bo Onu3uHara. (Our.6)

MMadran pamuja. Ce Haora BO NMOBHCOKUTE JIENO-
BU Ha pu0T ‘baup’ ox ceBepHara ctpaHa, OJau3y 110
‘Coyk wemmMa’. Criopesr AjBepid UMETO Ha [JaMujaTa
‘[Tadpra’e HeBoOOMUIAEHO U € TTOBP3aHO CO KOMHCKa-
Ta ompema. Hekoram BO KOMILIEKCOT MMaIle €leH
MekTeO U rpoOuIITa, Kako U €AHa MOJUTBEHA MpOC-
TOpHja M3rpajicHa MOJOIHA BO JIEBETHACCETTH BEK.
[maBHaTa MONMUTBEHA MTPOCTOpPHUja € CO JUMEH3UH O]
5,80 x 5, 80 M. 1 € MOKpHEHa CO OCMOAroIHa KyIoJia
KOja cTom Ha maHAaHTH(U. MUHApETO € of JenKaH
OWrop M MpeKy Hero ce BIeryBa BO Ijammjara. Mma
ananoruu co ‘CKpllieHa jaMyja’ ¥ € IPUMEPOK Ha pa-
HUOT KJIACHY€H OCMaHCKHU CTHI. (Dur. 7)

CalyHu namuja ce cnomenyBa Bo 1639 rogmna BO
maajoro Kapa Oman, momery amunte CyHryp Yaymr
bej m Xajoap xamu, orcrpotrBa Ha Jleboj amamoT.
(®dur.8)

Mecuyuau. MlMa 1 HEKONKY MECHHMIH OJf OBOj HEpH-
on: lllejx X’3’p banu, Xayu Keryna, Axmen edeny,
Maxwmyn ara u Kjyayk Cunan mecyu.

Typoetro Ha K’31ap bej uiam orBopeHoTo Typoe.
Ce Haorame BO TypCKUTE TpoOHWINTa Ha CEBEPO-
HUCTOYHOTO TMpEArpagne, BO HEKOTalUIHOTO Maajlo
K’znap 6ej. Ciinuno TypOe uma Bo Ckomje, mo3Haro
kako Kpan k’3u kazie criopen Jierenaara € morpeba-
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Ha Kepkarta Ha mocjenHuot 0ocancku kpain Credan
TomameBuk. JlumMeH3unTe Ha OUTOICKOTO TypOe ce
5, 16 x 5,31 m., co BucuHa ox 7, 76 m. Texaukara
Ha rpajielbe € KOMOMHAIM]ja Ha JeJIKaH KaMeH CO TpU
pena oIl TyJH U CO IIOKPUB O[] KepaMuAH. YIITE €IHO
cnm4HO TypOe mocBeteHo Ha [lurep baba, yunrtenor
Ha XacaH baba Hekorair Oellie JIONUPAHO HA jy>KHU-
Te MaguHu Ha puAOT TymOe kade. Cruaan TypOuma
uma Bo Ckomje, CapaeBo u @oyga. (Our.9), (dur.9a)
W Ha KpajoT eJeH HEeBOOOMYaeH OCMAHCKH CIIOME-
HUK € KyJaTa 1o3Hara kako ‘3angaH kyJje’. Ce Ha-
ora BO ABOpoT Ha yuwiaumrero ‘CtuB Haymos’, BO
onmu3nHara Ha amujata Xamsa bej. Kynara e usrpa-
neHa ox Xauu Maxmyn edennn, wimn Kynemn X’ pka
baba, xoj Omn mejx ox HakmbOeHauCKIOT epBUIIKH
pen, a okoiy 1628 roguna Owt 1 GUTONCKH My THja.
Cropen JiereHaTa Toj HCUE3HANI OCTaBajKH ja CBOja-
Ta MaHTHja KOja MOTOIIEHa BO BOJa MMalia JICKOBH-
Tu fejcrBa. Ce dyBaia BO €IeH KOBYET BO KynaTa o
eneH TypOenap, 3aeIHO CO IPYTH PEIMKBUU U PETKU
kHuru. Kynara Omiia u3rpageHa ox KaMeH cO OCHOBA
on 6, 50 u 5, 35 metpu u Bucuna of 10, 95 metpu.
Ogaa Tpu-KaTHA KyJia Ouiia orpeMeHa 3a He3aBUCHO
KUBECHE, UMalla OyHap, rojiemMa ofaja, CaHUTapHU
NPOCTOPUH U MarallvH 3a Xpana. buia ynorpeOyBa-
Ha M KaKO 3aCOJIHHUINTE BO BOEHO BPEME, HO M KaKO
NpUBpPEMEH 3aTBOP, MOpaay MITO U ro J00HIa KOr-
HOMEHOT ‘3aHjaH kyne’. Cinyau Kynu uMa Bo Cko-
nje, Kparoso, Kouanu n Anbanuja u Bo maBHO Ouiie
yrnoTpeOyBaHM 3a 3aIITHTa HA CEMEjCTBaTa HIIH KaKo
Tpe3opu 3a napu. (Owur.10)
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